FILED FEBRUARY 2, 2015 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 32842-2-III

COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

V.

SALVADOR S. NAVA,

Defendant/Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Dennis W. Morgan WSBA #5286 Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 1019 Republic, Washington 99166 (509) 775-0777

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. The trial court exceeded its authority at a resentencing hearing when it assessed a nine hundred and forty-three (943) month sentence on September 25, 2014. (CP 100)

ISSUE RELATING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Does the imposition of a nine hundred and forty-three (943) month sentence exceed a trial court's authority when the maximum penalty for an offense is life imprisonment with possibility of parole?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Salvador S. Nava was charged with one (1) count of first degree murder, four (4) counts of first degree assault and one (1) count of unlaw-ful possession of a firearm first degree pursuant to an Information filed on May 18, 2001. (CP 1)

An Amended Information was filed on January 26, 2009 which changed Count VI to unlawful possession of a firearm second degree. Mr. Nava was convicted of all counts in that Information. (CP 4) Judgment and Sentence was entered on June 15, 2009. The trial court imposed a mitigated sentence downward of two hundred and twenty (220) months on the first degree murder count. The convictions for first degree assault and unlawful possession of a firearm second degree were ordered to run concurrent with that mitigated sentence. Three hundred (300) months was imposed for firearm enhancements. The total sentence was five hundred and twenty (520) months. (CP 8)

The State filed a Notice of Appeal on June 18, 2009. Mr. Nava filed a *pro se* Notice of Appeal on July 1, 2009. On July 10, 2009 the State filed a cross-appeal. (CP 16; CP 25; CP 27)

The Court of Appeals issued its decision on October 22, 2013. It reversed the trial court's mitigated sentence and remanded the case for resentencing. The Mandate was issued on February 28, 2014. (CP 38: CP 40)

The resentencing hearing was originally scheduled for April 22, 2014. Numerous continuances were granted. The resentencing hearing was finally held on August 19 and September 25, 2014. (CP 89; CP 90; CP 91; CP 92; CP 93; CP 94; CP 95; CP 96)

Judgment and Sentence was entered on September 25, 2014 following the resentencing hearing. Two hundred and seventy-one (271) months was imposed on the first degree murder count. There was a sixty (60) month firearm enhancement on that count. The conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm was ordered to run concurrent. The four (4) first degree assault counts were ordered to run consecutive with each other and consecutive to the first degree murder conviction. There was a firearm enhancement on each count. The total sentence is nine hundred fortythree (943) months.

Mr. Nava filed his Notice of Appeal on October 20, 2014. (CP 109)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A sentence of nine hundred and forty-three (943) months (seventyeight (78) years seven (7) months) for a convicted offender whose date of birth is June 14, 1982 exceeds the maximum sentence allowable for a conviction of a class A felony. Mr. Nava needs to be resentenced to life in prison with possibility of parole.

ARGUMENT

RCW 9A.20.021(1) provides, in part:

Felony. Unless a different maximum sentence for a classified felony is specifically established by a statute of this state, no person convicted of a classified felony shall be punished by confinement or fine exceeding the following:

(a) For a class A felony, by confinement in a state correctional institution for a term of life imprisonment

Mr. Nava was born on June 14, 1982. He was twenty-seven (27) years old at the time of the initial Judgment and Sentence. RCW 9.94A.540(1)(a) requires a mandatory minimum term of twenty (20) years for the offense of first degree murder. His current sentence also includes three hundred (300) months (twenty-five (25) years) of mandatory time for firearm enhancements. He will be at least seventy-two (72) years old before he can begin receiving earned early release credits. *See:* RCW 9.94A.533(3)(a); *see also: State v. Desantiago*, 149 Wn.2d 402, 415-16, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003).

Mr. Nava, being an Hispanic male, has a current life expectancy of seventy-one point six (71.6) years. (*See:* <u>http://www.ecology.com/2013/</u>04/01/us-life-expectancy-mortality-rates/; Appendix "A")

Mr. Nava recognizes that the trial court followed statutory provisions when he was sentenced.

RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) provides, in part:

Whenever a person is convicted of two or more serious violent offenses arising from separate and distinct criminal conduct, the standard sentence range for the offense with the highest seriousness level under RCW 9.94A.515 shall be determined using the offender's prior convictions and other current convictions that are not serious violent offenses in the offender score All sentences imposed under (b) of this subsection shall be served consecutively to each other and concurrently with sentenced imposed under (a) of this subsection.

(Emphasis supplied.)

However, a limitation is imposed with regard to firearm enhance-

ments and the standard range sentence. RCW 9.94A.533(3)(g) states:

If the standard sentence range under this section exceeds the statutory maximum sentence for the offense, the statutory maximum sentence shall be the presumptive sentence unless the offender is a persistent offender. If the addition of a firearm enhancement increases the sentence so that it would exceed the statutory maximum for the offense, the portion of the offense representing the enhancement may not be reduced.

Mr. Nava is not a persistent offender. The firearm enhancements,

in and of themselves do not exceed the statutory maximum for the offense. However, when viewed in context with the overall sentence the trial court exceeded its authority and Mr. Nava is entitled to an adjustment in his sentence.

The trial court ordered each assault conviction to run consecutive to one another as well as the first degree murder conviction. *State v. Wil-*

son, 125 Wn.2d 212, 221, 883 P.2d 320 (1994) (applies to consecutive sentences for multiple assaults.)

Mr. Nava contends that due to his current age that the sentence imposed by the trial court exceeds the statutory maximum sentence for these offenses. The statutory maximum for first degree murder and first degree assault is life imprisonment.

Moreover, it is Mr. Nava's position that the sentence violates the purpose of the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 (SRA). RCW 9.94A.010 provides, in part:

The purpose of this chapter is to make the criminal justice system accountable to the public by developing a system for the sentencing of felony offenders which structures, but does not eliminate, discretionary decisions affecting sentences, and to:

- (1) Ensure that the punishment for a criminal offense is proportionate to the seriousness of the offense and the offender's criminal history;
- (2) Promote respect for the law by providing punishment which is just;
- (3) ...;
- (4) Protect the public;
- (5) Offer the offender an opportunity to improve himself or herself;
- (6) ...; and
- (7) Reduce the risk of reoffending by offenders in the community.

A sentence exceeding life imprisonment is not just. It is not fair.

It violates the purpose of the SRA.

Mr. Nava relies upon two (2) cases to support his position that the appropriate sentence in his case is life imprisonment with possibility of parole.

In State v. Frampton, 95 Wn.2d 469, 484, 627 P.2d 922 (1981) the

Court held:

The legislature believed and we find the penalty of life imprisonment without hope of parole or release to be substantially different than life with the possibility of parole. This difference violates the principal enunciated in *United States v. Jackson*, 390 U.S. 570, 20 L. Ed.2d 138, 88 S. Ct. 1209 (1968).

We hold the State may not constitutionally seek life imprisonment without possibility of release or parole for those who are found guilty of aggravated first degree murder

Mr. Nava was not found guilty of aggravated first degree murder.

The maximum penalty for his offense is life imprisonment.

The *Frampton* Court recognized that there is a difference between life in prison without possibility of parole and life in prison with the opportunity to obtain earned early release credits.

"... [C]ourts may sentence defendants to life imprisonment when convicted of multiple serious violent offenses." *State v. Whitfield*, 132

Wn. App. 878, 902, 134 P.3d 1203 (2006), *review denied* 159 Wn.2d 1012 (2007).

Mr. Nava asserts that the *Whitfield* case stands for the proposition that a sentencing court has discretionary authority to impose life imprisonment as opposed to a sentence which far exceeds any offender's life expectancy.

RCW 9.94A.729(2) provides:

In the case of an offender convicted of a serious violent offense, or a sex offense that is a class A felony, committed on or after July 1, 2003, the aggregate earned release time may not exceed ten percent of the sentence.

Mr. Nava would be entitled to receive ten (10%) percent earned early release credits once his mandatory minimum sentence and enhancements have been served. As previously indicated he would be seventytwo (72) years old before any earned early release credits could be acquired.

The State may say that Mr. Nava does not have the right to address

the issue of his resentencing. The State would be in error.

... [A] defendant "may raise sentencing issues on a second appeal if, on the first appeal, the appellate court vacates the original sentence or remands for an entirely new sentencing proceeding. ..." *State v. Graham*, 178 Wn. App. 580, 587 (2013), quoting *State v. Toney*, 149 Wn. App. 787, 205 P.3d 944 (2009).

CONCLUSION

A sentence of nine hundred and forty-three (943) months exceeds the recognized life expectancy of all males over eighteen (18) years of age. As such it also exceeds the maximum sentence for a class A felony.

The appropriate sentence is life imprisonment with the possibility of parole. This sentence would meet the purpose of the SRA.

It does not appear that the trial court or counsel for either side considered that life imprisonment would be an alternative disposition at sentencing. Due to the fact that the trial court was not given the opportunity to exercise its discretion as to that alternative, Mr. Nava's case should be remanded for another sentencing hearing.