I.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. ISSUES PRESENTED BY ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

Appellant makes one assignment of error; 

1. The trial court exceeded its authority when it imposed a 
standard range sentence of nine-hundred and forty-three 
months.      
 

B. ANSWERS TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. There was no error, the trial court followed the 
directions of this court and imposed a standard range 
sentence.   

 
II.   STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The only issue presented pertains to the sentence imposed at the 

resentencing hearing ordered by this Court.   There was a previous direct 

appeal of this case State v. Nava, 177 Wn.App. 272, 311 P.3d 83 

(Wash.App. Div. 3 2013)  In the opinion, which was published in part, 

upheld Nava’s conviction but overturned the sentence granting the State’s 

cross appeal on that issue.  This court ruled as follows; 

We affirm the convictions. For reasons discussed in 
the unpublished portion of the opinion, we reverse the 
sentence and remand for resentencing to a term that includes 
an enhanced sentence on count one of at least 331 months and 
a sentence for count one that shall run consecutively to the 
sentences for counts two through five. If the sentences on 
counts two through five are to run concurrently, the court shall 
enter findings and conclusions supporting that exceptional 
downward sentence.  State v. Nava, 177 Wn.App. 272, 298, 
311 P.3d 83 (Wash.App. Div. 3 2013) 
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The original sentence was imposed by Judge Schwab (RP 4).  

Judge Schwab had retired at the time of the resentencing, the sentencing 

on remand was done by the Honorable Judge Bartheld.  (RP 3-4)   Judge 

Bartheld was familiar with the record of the previous sentencing hearing, 

the previous sentence, the decision of this court and the briefing done by 

the parties prior to the resentencing hearing.   (RP 3-5)  

This court ruled; 

Nevertheless, the reason offered for an exceptional 
sentence must relate to the crime for which the defendant is 
being sentenced and make it less egregious, distinguishing 
the defendant's crime from others in the same category. 
State v. Fowler, 145 Wn.2d 400,404, 38 P.3d 335 (2002). 
No "multiple offense policy" can explain why the 
presumptive sentence for a defendant's most serious 
multiple offense, which the trial court recognized as having 
an effect completely distinct from the assaults, should 
receive a sentence below the standard range. See State v. 
Bridges, 104 Wn. App. 98, 15 P.3d 1047 (2001) (in 
multiple offense case, an exceptional sentence that was less 
than the standard sentence for one conviction was too 
lenient and an abuse of discretion). The trial court offered 
no reason for reducing the sentence for murder below the 
331-month minimum of the enhanced standard range. It 
should have imposed a sentence for murder within the 
standard range.  

… 
The trial court might reasonably have concluded that 

the difference between the four assaults, by themselves, was 
trivial, justifying exceptional concurrent sentencing. The 
record provides no basis for finding that there was a 
nonexistent, trivial, or trifling difference between the murder 
of Mr. Masovero and the firing of four more shots into the 
occupied car, however. The provision that the murder 
sentence run concurrently with the assault sentences cannot 
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stand. In order for the provision that the sentences for the 
four assaults run concurrently to stand, that departure must 
be supported by adequate findings and conclusions. (Nava 
slip at 43, 45) 
 
On September 25, 2014 the trial court imposed a sentence what 

included a “standard range” sentence for count I – First Degree Murder 

and per statute imposed consecutive sentence on counts II-V. (RP 49-56, 

CP 100-108)  

Although the sentence was within the standard range and reflective 

of the sentencing statutes this appeal followed.   Appellant did not dispute 

in the trial court that the sentence for count I, the murder charge, must be a 

“standard range” sentence.  (RP 14, 16, 17-18,He did argue to the trial 

court and renews that argument herein that the sentence for the Assault 1st 

Degree charges for counts II-V should run concurrent to all counts.   This 

would have required the court to find an exceptional sentence downward.    

On appeal Nava does not argue that the standard range sentence 

imposed for the murder should be overturned or that the courts order that 

the four assault charges which were run consecutive to the murder count 

and consecutive to each other were improperly imposed of that the trial 

court did not have authority to impose this sentence.  And in fact “Mr. 

Nava recognizes that the trial court followed statutory provisions when he 

was sentenced.”  (Appellant’s brief at 4)  What Nava argues is that the 
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sentence impose is just not fair given the circumstances of his crime and 

his current age.    

The State shall refer to specific sections of the record as needed to 

address the allegations that have been raised.  

III. ARGUMENT 
 

RESPONSE TO ALLEGATION ONE 

This was a standard range sentence by statutory definition 

regarding the sentence imposed on Count I and the sentence imposed on 

Counts II-V were imposed per statute.  RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) in part;  

Whenever a person is convicted of two or more 
serious violent offenses arising from separate and distinct 
criminal conduct, the standard sentence range for the 
offense with the highest seriousness level under RCW 
9.94A.515 shall be determined using the of-fender’s prior 
convictions and other current convictions that are not 
serious violent offenses in the offender score …. All 
sentences imposed under (b) of this subsection shall be 
served consecutively to each other and concurrently with 
sentenced imposed under (a) of this subsection. 

 
The trial court took great care in coming to its ultimate sentence.  It 

considered the record, the argument and briefing of counsel as well as the 

previous actions of Judge Schwab and after full and fair consideration 

determined the court, on this occasion, could not find that there was a 

basis for the court to depart from the sentence mandated by statute “…I 
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can’t find that the sentences that I have imposed and the considerations 

that I have given would make the sentence clearly excessive.” RP 56   

The claim that this sentence was improper was not raised in the 

trial court.  The attorney for Nava argued for a lesser sentence, he argued 

that the sentences should all be run concurrent but there is nothing in the 

record to indicate that once the sentence was imposed that Nava objected 

to that sentence.    The actions of the trial court followed the statute while 

acknowledging that the law allowed and this court addressed the 

possibility of an exceptional sentence downward.  The very nomenclature 

used, “exceptional” supports that fact that the sentence imposed was 

“standard” or “regular” and therefore not one that can be challenged by 

right.   

This court in its original opinion indicated that the trial court could 

impose an exceptional sentence stating that if the trial court were to 

impose an exceptional sentence involving concurrent sentences for the 

Assault charges that sentence would have to be supported by findings of 

fact and conclusions of law.  The trial court exercised this discretion and 

followed the statute imposing consecutive sentences.  

The basis for determining the offender score of a defendant are 

prior and concurrent convictions, see RCW 9.94A.525 Offender score.  
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A standard range sentence is generally not appealable. RCW 

9.94A.585(1). Nevertheless, a defendant may appeal the trial court's 

procedure in imposing his sentence. State v. Ammons, 105 Wn.2d 175, 

183, 713 P.2d 719, 718 P.2d 796 (1986). Trial counsel was advocating for 

a sentence that was clearly an exceptional sentence and this was 

acknowledged by this court in the original appeal.   RCW 9.94A.589. 

Consecutive or concurrent sentences;  

(b) Whenever a person is convicted of two or more 
serious violent offenses arising from separate and distinct 
criminal conduct, the standard sentence range for the 
offense with the highest seriousness level under RCW 
9.94A.515 shall be determined using the offender's prior 
convictions and other current convictions that are not 
serious violent offenses in the offender score and the 
standard sentence range for other serious violent offenses 
shall be determined by using an offender score of zero. The 
standard sentence range for any offenses that are not 
serious violent offenses shall be determined according to 
(a) of this subsection. All sentences imposed under (b) of 
this subsection shall be served consecutively to each other 
and concurrently with sentences imposed under (a) of this 
subsection.  

 
When this court addressed the sentence imposed on count I, the 

murder charge it stated; 

Nevertheless, the reason offered for an exceptional 
sentence must relate to the crime for which the 
defendant is being sentenced and make it less egregious, 
distinguishing the defendant's crime from others in the 
same category. State v. Fowler, 145 Wn.2d 400, 404, 38 
P.3d 335 (2002). No “multiple offense policy" can 
explain why the presumptive sentence for a defendant's 
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most serious multiple offense, which the trial court 
recognized as having an effect completely distinct from 
the assaults, should receive a sentence below the 
standard range. See State v. Bridges, 104 Wn.App. 98, 
15 P.3d 1047 (2001) (in multiple offense case, an 
exceptional sentence that was less than the standard 
sentence for one conviction was too lenient and an abuse 
of discretion). The trial court offered no reason for 
reducing the sentence for murder below the 331-month 
minimum of the enhanced standard range. It should have 
imposed a sentence for murder within the standard 
range. (Slip opinion at pg. 43)  

The Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution prohibits 

cruel and unusual punishment.  “[T]he Eighth Amendment guarantees 

individuals the right not to be subjected to excessive sanction.”   Roper v. 

Simmons, 543 U.S.551, 560, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed2d 1 (2005) 

Punishments that are grossly disproportional to the crime, resulting in 

extreme sentences, are forbidden by the Eighth Amendment.  Graham v. 

Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 2021, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010).   

Mr. Nava relies on State v. Frampton, 95 Wn.2d 469, 497, 627 

P.2d 922 (1981).   The case is clearly distinguishable from Nava’s.  

Frampton pertained the death penalty in this state; 

In summary then, we hold: (1) The present statutory 
scheme for imposing the death penalty is unconstitutional; 
(2) under these statutes, the State may not seek and have 
imposed in cases of aggravated first degree murder the 
punishment of life imprisonment without the possibility of 
parole; (3) the special sentencing proceeding for imposing 
the death penalty does not unconstitutionally withdraw 
from the jury the question of the appropriate sentence; (4) 
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RCW 10.94.020(10)(b), which requires the jury to make a 
prediction as to the future dangerousness of the defendant 
is constitutional; and (5) death by hanging violates the 
Eighth Amendment and Const. art. 1, § 14. 

 
The trial court’s ruling regarding the sentence to be imposed 

addresses the basis for that sentence; 

In this particular circumstance, four to five -- I 
think five gunshots were fired by Mr. Nava, that was 
the finding of the jury.  Two of them were in the head, 
the other three were to in -- to various parts of the rear 
compartment of the vehicle in a total disregard for 
human life, of the -- of all of those occupied by the 
vehicle.  It’s similar to shooting into a crowd of 
people.   

In this particular circumstance the jury found, 
beyond a reasonable doubt, that there was an intent to 
inflict serious bodily harm by use of a deadly weapon 
to all of the individuals in that automobile, one of 
which lost his life.  And the other four of which 
escaped harm; but were certainly within the realm of 
being seriously harmed or injured or killed themselves.   

To find that a sentence is clearly excessive the 
Court has to find the difference between the effects of 
the first criminal act, i.e., the first degree murder and 
the cumulative effects of the subsequent acts is 
nonexistent, trivial or trifling.  I can’t find that.   

In this particular circumstance the jury found that 
Mr. Nava acted with total disregard for the individuals 
in that automobile that weren’t killed, and that’s what I 
interpret the jury’s decision to be.   

So it is the ruling of this Court on resentencing that 
Mr. Nava be sentenced to the bottom of the standard 
range on each of the four first degree assault charges 
plus the deadly weapons enhancement for each of 
those four assault charges, and that they run 
consecutive, as required by the statute.   
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I understand why Judge Schwab was motivated in 
the sense that he was to give Mr. Nava a sentence of 
five hundred and twenty months and that was to give 
some hope that he would be released before the 
expiration of his natural life.  And while I don’t 
believe that that is a admirable belief in this case, I 
believe that I have to follow the law as the Legislature 
has determined in this case and that I must follow the 
Sentencing Guidelines and impose them in the manner 
that I have done so.   

I have taken into consideration the fact that I have 
sentenced Mr. Nava to the low end of the standard 
range on all five of the serious offenses.  I have 
necessarily included the sixty month enhancements 
because of the deadly weapons enhancement, which I 
am required to by statute.  And I have also allowed the 
unlawful possession of a firearm to run concurrent.   

Lastly, I have also taken into consideration that 
this event took place on May -- in May of 2001 and 
that Mr. Nava was not apprehended until July of 2008, 
a period of seven years and two months after the fact.  
And so I think that also has to be taken into 
consideration.   

While it may be true that the other four occupants 
of that automobile escaped any injury at all, I don’t 
think any one of us in this courtroom would ever trade 
places and put ourselves in that automobile under 

those circumstances.  And I have to respect the fear 
and the utter fright that these individuals experienced 
in that automobile when Mr. Nava opened fire on the 
automobile that evening.   

And I can’t find that the sentences that I have 
imposed and the considerations that I have given 
would make the sentence clearly excessive.   

 (The entire statement of the trial court is contained 
in Appendix A.)  

 

Once again quoting from this court’s prior decision; 
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In reviewing a trial court's conclusion that the 

multiple offense policy results in a sentence that is 
clearly excessive, we apply the same standard first 
announced as the appellate standard to determine 
whether a sentence imposed by the trial court is " 
clearly excessive" within the meaning of RCW 
9.94A.585(4): that being whether "the difference 
between the effects of the first criminal act and the 
cumulative effects of the subsequent criminal acts is 
nonexistent, trivial or trifling." Hortman, 76 Wn.App. 
at 463-64; State v. Kinneman, 120 Wn.App. 327, 342, 
84 P.3d 882 (2003); McKee, 141 Wn.App. at 33. 

… 
The trial court might reasonably have 

concluded that the difference between the four 
assaults, by themselves, was trivial, justifying 
exceptional concurrent sentencing. The record 
provides no basis for finding that there was a 
nonexistent, trivial, or trifling difference between the 
murder of Mr. Masovero and the firing of four more 
shots into the occupied car, however. The provision 
that the murder sentence run concurrently with the 
assault sentences cannot stand. In order for the 
provision that the sentences for the four assaults run 
concurrently to stand, that departure must be 
supported by adequate findings and conclusions. 

 
Clearly the trial court did not find that the actions of Nava with 

regard to the other four victims who were sitting in the same car, two on 

the same seat, as the deceased “trivial or trifling.”  The court was well 

within its discretion when it imposed the sentence that it did.    

The trial court was apprised of the length of the sentence in 

conjunction with the defendant’s age.   “If you’re running consecutive 

then what it does is adds on about almost thirteen years.  He would be 
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eighty-two point nine one years of age when he got out on this matter -- or 

if he did all of his time, which is a lifetime.  And -- of course the hundred 

and five point five eight is just -- is way out there.” (RP 45)  

The addition of twenty-five years to the sentence imposed on the 

defendant comes about because the legislature determined that "Armed 

criminals pose an increasing and major threat to public safety and can turn 

any crime into serious injury or death." "Hard Time for Armed Crime 

Act." Laws of 1995, ch. 129, § 1(1)(a) (Initiative 159 (I-159)).    

The simple fact is that Nava made a choice on the day of this crime 

to take a gun and fire off at least five rounds into a Nissan Altima that was 

occupied by five young men.  Nava’s accomplice Mr. Nanamkin stood in 

an area near the front of this same Nissan with his weapon ready and but 

for the fact that the weapon jammed or was broken he too would have 

been firing into this small passenger car.   Yes there was additional time 

added that significantly lengthened this sentence but, if Nava would have 

walked up to this car and punched the deceased in the head instead of 

shooting him he would now not be facing sentence which in total is 943 

months. (CP 103)   Our legislature has spoken with regard to criminals 

who choose to arm themselves with weapons and especially firearms.  

Nava argues that “when viewed in context with the overall 

sentence the trail court exceeded its authority and Mr. Nava is entitled to 
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an adjustment in his sentence.”    The trial court did not exceeded its 

authority, the trial court exercised its discretion and authority when it 

considered all factors presented and the opinion of this court and imposed 

a sentence that was just.    

Neither case cited by Nava supports his theory that the trial court 

exceeded its authority or that is just wrong to give him a sentence that he 

terms too harsh.   Article I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution 

prohibits cruel punishment and provides more protection than its eighth 

amendment federal counterpart. State v. Fain, 94 Wn.2d 387, 392, 617 

P.2d 720 (1980).   Therefore it necessarily follows that if the Washington 

Constitution is not violated, the sentence also does not violate the United 

States Constitution. State v. Morin, 100 Wn.App. 25, 29, 995 P.2d 113, 

review denied, 142 Wn.2d 1010, 16 P.3d 1264 (2000).   Article I, section 

14 protects against sentences that are "grossly disproportionate" to the 

crime committed. "A punishment is grossly disproportionate only if the 

conduct should never be proscribed ... or if the punishment is clearly 

arbitrary and shocking to the sense of justice." State v. Smith, 93 Wn.2d 

329, 344-45, 610 P.2d 869, cert. denied, 449 U.S. 873, 101 S.Ct. 213, 66 

L.Ed.2d 93 (1980).    

In one of the cases cited by Nava, State v. Whitfield, 132 Wn.App. 

878, 883, 134 P.3d 1203 (2006), review denied, 159 Wn.2d 1012, 154 
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P.3d 919 (2007) this court affirmed a sentence of “2,137 months' 

confinement on 17 counts of first degree assault with sexual motivation, 2 

counts of witness tampering, and 3 counts of no-contact order violations.” 

(178.08 years Id at 888)   Not to minimize the facts in Whitfield but the 

legislature has clearly indicated that the crimes Nava was charged and 

convicted of are greater than or equal in severity in the eyes of that body, a 

body to whom we have delegated the duty to establish the punishments for 

criminal acts in this state.    

The court in Whitfield analyzed the sentence in light of the “Fain” 

factors and stated “We hold that Whitfield's sentence is not grossly 

disproportionate to his crime. The court convicted him of intentionally 

exposing or transmitting a deadly disease to 17 women. The legislature 

has a right to discourage such behavior and to protect the public from such 

offenders. Consequently, the sentence does not violate Washington's 

prohibition of cruel punishment and Whitfield's argument fails.”  Id at 

902. 

State v. Whitfield, 132 Wn.App. at 883; 

Article I, section 14 of the Washington 
Constitution prohibits cruel and unusual punishment and 
provides more protection than its federal counterpart. State 
v. Fain, 94 Wash.2d 387, 392, 617 P.2d 720 (1980). 
Article I, section 14 protects against sentences that are 
grossly disproportionate to the crime committed. State v. 
Morin, 100 Wash.App. 25, 29, 995 P.2d 113, review 
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denied, 142 Wash.2d 1010, 16 P.3d 1264 (2000). "A 
punishment is grossly disproportionate only if ... the 
punishment is clearly arbitrary and shocking to the sense 
of justice." State v. Smith, 93 Wash.2d 329, 344-45, 610 
P.2d 869, cert. denied, 449 U.S. 873, 101 S.Ct. 213, 66 
L.Ed.2d 93 (1980). 

 
The sentence handed down was without doubt a very long 

sentence, it is however far short of the 2,137 months imposed in Whitfield 

an egregious case but not a case wherein a man was premeditatedly 

executed in a car full of his friends.    

The sentence proposed by Nava is not one that the set forth in the 

SRA, it would be an exceptional sentence, something the sentencing court 

stated was not appropriate given the facts and circumstances of this case.    

IV. CONCLUSION  

For the reasons set forth above this court should deny this appeal.  

This action of the trial court at the time of the resentencing was a 

discretionary act.  The trial court followed the law regarding sentencing, 

the sentence impose was not cruel or unusual.    

The fact that the sentencing court did not find the assaults of four 

young men to be “trivial or trifling” is one that can readily be discerned 

from the facts that were presented to that court.  

The actions of the trial court should be upheld and this appeal 

should be dismissed.